
 

1 
 

Minutes 
Essex County Wetlands Board 

109 Cross St., Tappahannock, VA, 
 Meeting of July 27, 2023 

6:00 PM 

A meeting of the Essex County Wetlands Board was held on July 27, 2023, in the School Board 
Meeting Room at 109 Cross St., Tappahannock, Virginia, with the following present: 

Present: 
Barry Bates 
Bunky Davis 
Kevin Goff 
Robbie Howeth 
 
Absent: 
Jeff Howeth – Chairman 
Nate Parker IV 
 
Also present: 
Kelly McKnight, Planning and Zoning Office Manager 
Jeff Madden, VMRC 
 
CALL TO ORDER 

Vice Chairman Davis called the meeting of the Essex County Wetlands Board to order. 

ROLL CALL 

Ms. McKnight called the roll.  A quorum was met. 

AGENDA 

Vice Chairman Davis stated that their was a withdraw and so the only case is Jeff Bane, VMRC 
#23-1170. 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

Vice Chairman Davis asked if there was a recommendation for approval of the minutes from the 
June 22, 2023 meeting.  

Mr. Bates made a motion to approve the minutes. Mr. Howeth seconded the motion. AYES: 4 
NAYES: 0 ABSENT: 2 

 

 



 

2 
 

PUBLIC COMMENTS 

None 

PUBLIC HEARINGS 

VMRC # 23-1170 - Jeff Bane 

Scott Woolard, 425 Lakeview Dr. Hartfield, VA, representing Mac Bros, LLC permits. They are 
proposing a 200’ revetment of class 2 stone. 6’ wide, All the derelict structures will be removed 
and they will fill in where there is some areas that will to be filled in where there is a concrete 
walkway. They feel this is the best way to move forward with this. This will be a permanent 
structure that will not have to be changed. See life will be thriving within the rock.  

Vice Chairman Davis stated that a few of the board members have visited the site.  

Mr. Goff asked if the application has been modified regarding the stone size? 

Mr. Woolard stated that it had for a larger stone size. 

Vice Chairman Davis opened up the floor for public hearing.  

Donna Lankford, adjacent property owner. She has a lot of concerns about it. She stated that at 
her end of the wall there are no problems. She is not sure that it even needs to be replaced 
there. The original that she had was a much smaller stone and now they have decided to go to a 
bigger stone. She wanted to know why a Rip Rap was chosen instead of a seawall that was 
already there. 

Mr. Woolard stated that it is a permanent and will never have to be replaced. The sea life will 
be able to thrive within it.  

Mrs. Lankford read from a letter from the other adjacent property owner. ‘Riprap is not 
indestructible and maintenance free. It requires supervision and monitoring to catch crack and 
problems early to make repairs and adjustments. The owner of this property, Mr. Bane, is 
incapable of doing this. He never comes to check on his property, it is an eyesore and nuisance, 
and cannot be counted on or trusted to maintain it. I have told him repeatedly to be a good 
neighbor, replace the seawall and I am fed up cleaning up his property and debris that I must 
monitor and remove from the river on a regular basis.’ This is from Jon and Marylee Querolo. 

Mr. Woolard stated that these stones are 500 lbs a piece and are not going to be going 
anywhere.  

Mrs. Lankford asked what kind of impact this would have on their beach? 

Mr. Woolard stated that it would protect their property on each end of it. Winds coming from 
each side pushing wave power it is actually going to help your property.  



 

3 
 

Mrs. Lankford stated that it is not what they have seen with the other riprap down there. They 
have seen beaches erode immediately, pretty quickly after that riprap stone. She asked if they 
were going to go out 6’ further than them to do this? 

Mr. Goff asked if the concern is that the beach will disappear 6’ further out? 

Mrs. Lankford stated she is concerned that it is just going to wash that sand out. 

Mr. Lankford stated that if he brings that tow out it will was the sand out. They have sand to 
the top of the wall 8’ out.  

Mr. Goff stated that he is been out to the site and there is not a lot of intertidal beach left.  

Mr. Lankford showed pictures from their property which is up river. They have put in new 
groins to catch the sand and they are concerned that Mr. Bane is going to come destroy it. The 
sand moves one direction and it is going to hit that riprap and go right out. He has to go out 2’ 
to put his tow in. 

Vice Chairman Davis stated that the tow is going to be 6’ out.  

Mr. Lankford stated he has to go down 2’ to put the tow in and bring the cloth back up. When 
he digs that tow out we are going to be washed right out, boat dock and everything.  

Vice Chairman Davis stated he is not in a good position on how to proceed with this. He 
understands the concern.  

Mr. Goff stated that the way he understood Jay at the last meeting is that it is part of the 
application process to notify the adjacent properties. 

Mrs. Lankford stated that they didn’t. They actually got it from Essex. 

Mr. Goff stated that he has read the letter from the adjacent property owners. 

Mrs. Lankford stated that it was sent after the fact, after the meeting was already scheduled. 
They didn’t get any notification from Mr. Bane. 

Mr. Goff stated that it is a part of the application process. They did receive the email from the 
Lankfords and the neighbors on the other side objecting it. Mr. Woodward from VMRC 
explained what it meant when someone objects. He said that the wetlands board can take into 
consideration the substance and nature of the objections in whether or not we approve but the 
neighbors can’t veto. They will look at the application on its merit but taking into consideration 
the neighbors objecting to it. He thinks the main thing is the neighbors object to a 
discontinuation of the seawall they want the continuous seawall.  

Mrs. Lankford stated that she does not want their beach destroyed.  

Mr. Goff stated that he doesn’t understand how riprap is going to cause the removal of sand 
from either of the properties. He has seen lots of shoreline armoring in his life. Whenever you 



 

4 
 

put any kind of armor up you deepen the water and often lose the beach and that’s what the 
groins are for. That is as true of a seawall then riprap. If anything riprap dissipates the wave 
energy a little more gradually because of it’s slope than a vertical bulkhead does.  

Mrs. Lankford says if you ride down the road and you see where they have put riprap you can 
see where it has taken out the sand.  

Mr. Goff asked on this property that you are talking about with the riprap, where is the sand 
being removed? 

Mrs. Lankford stated that on the road that you come in the state put rock in and now there is 
no sand there and all of the riprap is out in the water and it is not even useable anymore. 

Mr. Goff stated that if this was pristine beach he wouldn’t be considering any of it. What we 
have is a preexisting armoring. Anytime you armor shoreline you are going to lose sand in front 
of it. The wave energy is going to scour it out.  

Mr. Lankford stated that they don’t want that. 

Mr. Goff stated that it also happens with seawalls.  

Mr. Lankford stated that they just put in a seawall 2 years ago and have sand in front of it.  

Mr. Goff stated you have sand it front of it because you have groins there. 

Mr. Lankford stated that they have sand in front of the seawall. 

Mr. Goff stated that they could have a discussion as to if this proposal should include some low 
profile groins but that is why that sand is there. Generally on big water where there is 
significant wave energy you have long fetch so you can get pretty good size waves once in a 
while. If you have a seawall and do not have any type of groin to trap the sand the water will 
get deeper there.  

Mr. Lankford stated a wooden seawall wouldn’t be that bad. Its going to hit the side and go 
right back out. When he puts the riprap out there he is going to take half of our groins out.  

Vice Chairman Davis asked if their seawall is more landward? 

Mr. Lankford stated that it is even with Mr. Banes but once he goes out the waves will take out 
the groins. 

Vice Chairman Davis stated that normally they have Mr. Jay Woodward from VMRC to speak 
and he is sure there is a report on this with VMRC’s recommendation.  

Mr. Lankford stated they have no objection to a wooden wall.  

Mr. Bates stated that we established last meeting that VMRC prefers riprap because it absorbs 
energy, helps the living environment, and water pools.  



 

5 
 

Mr. Goff stated that we can have the discussion after we finish asking them questions.  

Mrs. Lankford asked if this does happen since we never see this person, he never comes to this 
property. What is our recourse as things get destroyed or as these rocks get out in the water? 

Mr. Goff stated this is when we would like to have VMRC here to tell us. He believes that the 
expectation is that if there is destruction the owner is responsible for removing any debris.  

Mr. Woolard stated they are 500 lb rocks he is not sure what is going to move them. 

Mr. Goff stated that he agreed they are not going to move.  

Mrs. Lankford asked if they are 500 lb rocks what is going to fill in the gaps? 

Mr. Woolard said that they will put down the smaller rock and then the bigger rocks go on top 
of that which is what has been recommended and they have adjusted for that. They wanted to 
make this a permanent so it doesn’t effect anybody.  

Mr. Lankford stated if they don’t fill the boards up then the stone is going to wash out.  

Mr. Woolard stated that it will be filled up. 

Mr. Lankford stated that all they had on the paper was #2 riprap you do not have #1’s on there. 
How long have you been doing rip rap? 

Mr. Woolard stated that he is not the one doing the job he is representing the company and the 
permit and what is on here is what was recommended.  

Mr. Goff stated that he believes the answer to their question is you would need to ask VMRC 
what the recourse would be if there is some destruction or debris. For example if you have a 
seawall and it falls apart he would have to remove the remains of that. That doesn’t have 
anything to do with whether or not we approve it. 

Mrs. Lankford is trying to figure out how all of these rocks are going to stay together if that is all 
that you are putting in. 

Mr. Goff stated because they are heavy and that is what they do. They raised the concern at the 
last meeting when we had been to the site and looked. They raised the concern to the other 
gentleman about the size of the stone. And they updated the application accordingly. Jay 
Woodward from VMRC stated they should also be using the heavier stone. He doesn’t believe it 
is going anywhere it is normal for Rip Rap to have that look. He is not sure what the fill is that 
you are wanting. 

Mr. Lankford asked if they would have to get another permit to go down on the groin and put 
the ‘T’ on it? 

Vice Chairman Davis asked if they were wanting to modify their existing groin? 



 

6 
 

Mrs. Lankford stated yes once he gets approved. 

Mr. Lankford stated that he would like to but a ‘T’ out there to catch. 

Vice Chairman Davis stated like a breakwater.  

Mr. Goff stated that’s why he was asking questions about their concern for loss of sand. If it is 
in front of the rip rap. 

Mrs. Lankford stated she is not worried about his rip rap she is worried about their own 
property.  

Mr. Goff stated that a groin might be the solution to that.  

Vice Chairman Bates stated that they have an existing groin that they put in 4 or 5 years ago. 

Mr. Goff asked if they were wanting to put a groin snug up to the property line? 

Mr. Lankford asked if they put rip rap in there and he dies or whatever and we bought the 
property could we put a seawall in front of the rip rap? 

Vice Chairman Davis stated he is not sure where that line is? 

Mr. Goff stated that everything is in flux, the recommendations change, but in general this 
board has been amenable to proposals for seawalls, bulkheads, vertical armor when it is being 
built on or directly in front of the older seawall that is failing. That they have approved. He 
understands that they are saying if there is rip rap there. 

Mr. Lankford stated if they bought the property they would like to take the rip rap out and put 
a seawall in. 

Mr. Goff stated that he is speculating that there is a good chance they would accommodate. 

Mrs. Lankford asked if they are saying that once rip rap goes there, it becomes permanent and 
no one can put a seawall in front of it, in your eyes, because you think rip rap doe a better job.  

Mr. Goff stated that Mr. Lankford just asked about replacing it and he said there is a good 
chance they would approve that.  

Mrs. Lankford stated that yes they would approve it but earlier you had said that rip rap is a 
better product. 

Mr. Bates stated that is what VMRC recommends.  

Mr. Goff stated that what they really prefer is living shoreline but it’s not feasible on open river.  

Mr. Bates stated that there is a letter attached that talks about the living shoreline and it 
wouldn’t work because it is north facing.  



 

7 
 

Mr. Goff stated that it seems what they are asking is if we approve this permit and someday 
you acquire that property would you be able to remove the existing rip rap with permission. All 
he can say is it is certainly a possibility. It is the distinction of a shoreline that has already been 
altered in an unnatural way. Rip rap and seawalls are both basically eliminating the natural 
shoreline and deepening the water. So the position would be similar to that of an existing 
seawall, if the seawall is failing and someone wants to remove it and replace it in the same 
footprint we have been ok with that.  

Vice Chairman Davis stated that as long as he has been on the board he does not remember 
that someone has wanted to change the type of the revetment most of the time it is because 
the old one is failing.  

Mr. Bates stated it all depends on how the question is asked. The answer would be no to 
putting a seawall in front of the rip rap.  

Mr. Goff clarified that they asked for removing the rip rap and replacing it with a seawall 
continuous with yours. 

Mrs. Lankford asked so you could not put a seawall in front of the rip rap. 

Mr. Bates stated that is correct you cannot put it in front. 

Mr. Goff stated that there would be a lot more resistance to that and this is all hypothetical 
because you have to go through the application process.  

Mrs. Lankford stated that is why they showed up to get the questions answered.  

Mr. Bates stated if you get into subaqueous bottom if you go 6’ or in front of the existing rip 
rap, past low tide mark. 

Mr. Goff stated that then it is not even jurisdictional.  

 Mrs. Lankford asked if you decide to approve this since all of the pictures in here are not of 
what kind of shape ours is in. Our end is not in any type of damage. She suggests they take it 
40’ from theirs and go down. 

Mr. Lankford stated from their property line 40’ over.  

Mr. Goff stated they have noted that.  

Mrs. Lankford stated if they are going to approve it for rock Mr. Banes would probably be ok 
with that because that would be less that he would have to replace.  

Mr. Goff stated that they need to understand they will not dictate something like that. They are 
going to render a decision based on the application that is front of us.  

Mrs. Lankford said that the other option would be could they have them put in a groin at the 
end of the property beside the rip rap. 



 

8 
 

Mr. Goff stated they would have to go through the application process. 

Mrs. Lankford stated that this would not be themselves but Mr. Bane doing this. 

Mr. Goff asked so you want a modification to the proposal. They will discuss it and he wishes 
that VMRC were there.  

Mr. Goff asked to see the pictures to see the groin. 

Mr. Goff and Mr. Lankford discussed the pictures and the height of the groin that he would like 
Mr. Bane to put in so that the water doesn’t come up over it.  

Mr. Woolard asked if this was something that could not be voted on tonight? 

Mr. Goff stated that they would vote on it. 

Vice Chairman Davis stated that they would discuss and ask questions.  

Vice Chairman Davis stated that he and the board are not design experts. They take what is 
given to us and what falls within the regulations and it seems that VMRC is in favor of it. We are 
not here to dictate what the landowner can or cannot do. We can steer them right and make 
suggestions on the information given to them. They are not here to design.  

Mr. Bates stated that they have an obligation to protect the tidal wetlands. When they do 
approve something it is not on them at all to protect neighbor or look at a design that would be 
harmful to a neighbor? He figures that neighbor question is on there for a reason. He does not 
have it totally clear why that is on there. 

Mr. Goff stated that they could check the minutes but he asked Jay that with what is the 
significance of having neighbors object to it. What he took him to be saying is that they can take 
into consideration the substance of what the reasons are but it is just another factor that goes 
into whether they approve or not. We went to the site ahead of the last meeting and convinced 
the representative to go back to Mr. Bane and make sure he understood he did not have to do 
rip rap that he could do seawall. Since we thought he had been given some advice that maybe 
they wouldn’t approve a seawall. We made it clear that we would approve a seawall when it is 
being built in the same footprint of an existing seawall. We allowed a month for him and he still 
wants to stick with the plan to put in the rip rap. We allowed the opportunity for him to adjust 
what he wanted. 

Vice Chairman Davis stated that is accurate. 

Mr. Goff stated that we have the email as well. He does not see any way in which this Rip rap, if 
that’s what he wants and that’s what he puts in there, he doesn’t see where that is going to 
compromise the beaches to either side. If anything having that rip rap is going to act like a small 
groin and will catch some sand especially on the up river end of everything.  



 

9 
 

Vice Chairman Davis stated that with VMRC’s recommendation they seem to be fine with it and 
we do want to take into consideration the neighbors. He favors with Mr. Goff on this where he 
does not think there is anything deliberate or obvious, it is just speculation, as to what is going 
to happen. But there is nothing obvious that is going to cause destruction. He owns a piece of 
property that he is trying to catch sand on and on the down river side his neighbor has rip rap, 
he does not know that it is detrimental to his property.  

Mrs. Lankford asked if he had caught sand with that. 

Vice Chairman Davis stated that they installed a groin and there were existing groins upstream 
already.  

Mr. Bates asked if they put the groin in. 

Vice Chairman Davis stated that yes they had. 

Jeff Madden, with the Marine Resources Commission, apologized for being late he got stuck in 
traffic. He asked if there was anything he could do to shed light on to this he would be more 
than happy to. While he can’t speak to the merits of the project he can speak to the processes if 
they have any questions. 

Vice Chairman Davis stated he is the Vice Chairman presiding tonight. 

Mr. Bates asked since the applicant has to check a box to notify the neighbors, we have an 
adjoining property owner that is extremely concerned with losing sand that is building up. They 
have a bulkhead wall and they are concerned about the riprap. Since that is on there do we 
have any responsibility to protect neighboring properties? How do we get past that if an 
adjoining property owner has a legitimate concern. 

Mr. Madden stated that the Code of Virginia asks that the commission consider the adjacent 
property owners. It does not go any deeper than that. That is why it is important for the news 
ads, board, and staff to contact the adjacent property owners. VIMS has told them that when a 
living shoreline is not possible a revetment is a good fallback. A revetment will break up wave 
energy. Wave energy is directed across the face of a bulkhead if the wind comes in at an 
oblique angle the wave force will slide across. With a rip rap revetment it breaks up wave 
energy so you don’t have the flanking effect that occurs in many bulkheads because the waves 
roll across to the unprotected area. They would most likely break up the wave energy as 
opposed to transferring to whatever property on either side.  

Vice Chairman Davis stated that it is the opinion of the adjacent owner that it is going to cause 
some type of deterioration of their beach up river. Their beach must be improving since he 
knows they have put up a seawall there a few years ago. Since you have looked at this case the 
existing seawall is a failing seawall correct? 

Mr. Madden stated yes.  



 

10 
 

Vice chairman Davis stated that your opinion and knowledge is appreciated on this and what 
you just stated.  

Mr. Madden said it has nothing to do with the specifics of this case and he cannot stress the 
necessity of him not directing you all to a particular decision. It is the opinion of the Virginia 
Institute of Marine Science that a rip rap revetment will absorb wave energy rather than reflect 
it so the net impact would likely be less. The protestant does have an avenue, with the support 
of additional freeholders they can appeal the decision to the commission but they would need 
25 freeholders to do so. An Applicant can appeal a wetlands board decision to the Marine 
Resources Commission, the commissioner himself can or 25 freeholders. 

Mr. Bates asked if they determine freeholders as property owners or just other citizens. 

Mr. Madden stated that it is any property owner in the county. Normally what they have gotten 
is a petition but for it to be considered they have to have an address so they could determine if 
they own the property or if they rent it. He apologized again for being late to everyone in the 
audience. 

Mrs. Lankford asked what his name was again? 

Mr. Madden stated that his name was Jeff Madden and that anyone wishing to speak should 
come to the podium as these are recorded. 

Mr. Goff stated that the matter at hand is that they have a proposal to put rip rap in and we 
have neighbors objecting to it partly on the belief that they will lose sediment from their 
shoreline and partly because it is a change. It interrupts the continuous seawall. We did our 
part to try and accommodate and hear all voices a month ago, go through a cycle of feedback, 
and gave the applicant the opportunity to switch his proposal back to a seawall from a 
revetment. He has declined to do so. He does not have any reason to believe that there is going 
to be any loss of sand other than what is always lost when you armor a shoreline. If anything 
like Mr. Madden has said there could be less loss or even some accumulation on one side of it. 
As for the aesthetic part of he gets it but the property owner can decide his property. 

Mr. Bates stated and rip rap is an acceptable practice. 

Mr. Goff stated for a variety of reasons a revetment is preferred over a bulkhead, ecological 
reasons, dissipating the wave energy. This is a case where you already have an old armored 
shoreline and it has become what it is. He is normally the one that would say he doesn’t want 
armament there unless there is a danger to property. He does not have a preference one way 
or another for seawall or revetment. Maybe slightly more the revetment but it is not for us. The 
question is he has applied to put in rip rap revetment and we take into consideration what the 
neighbors say about that. He does not see anything so severe that we should reject the 
proposal that he has put in rip rap. There is no compelling reason that we should ask the 
applicant to oblige and add a low profile groin on each end. 



 

11 
 

Mr. Bates stated he is not sure it is even in our purview.  

Mr. Goff stated if up against the groin, he wouldn’t expect it on the upriver side, maybe on the 
down river side, if that happens we would always approve an addition of a groin but he does 
not think they have substantive reason to oblige the applicant to do so.  

Vice Chairman Davis stated that without further discussion they will bring it before the board 
for a vote.  

Mr. Goff asked if they could provisionally allow for the applicant to put in a groin if he chooses 
to? 

Mr. Bates said it is a good question. 

Mr. Goff stated that they often ask for amendments to applications and we will vote and 
approve them with the understanding that those amendments will be added and submitted 
properly. He is asking if they can ask for an amendment to the application which simply says the 
construction could include two low-profile groins one on each end if the applicant choose to do 
it. Then we are putting it in his hands and maybe he would choose to do that as a gesture of 
goodwill.  

Mr. Bates stated if we could do that then he wouldn’t have to come back to us for approval for 
them. 

Mr. Madden stated that is a good question. The board can approve a project, the board can 
deny a project, the board can approve a project in modified form. However, in his personal 
opinion he would think that the inclusion of a pretty significant structure that would effect the 
movement of sand along the shoreline would probably require additional notification in case 
other individuals want to discuss. In order for a groin to work effectively it will block the 
movement of sand down river.  

Mr. Goff stated that they also don’t know how close the nearest groins are. He withdraws the 
thought. 

Mr. Bates stated that it is still a good thought. 

Vice Chairman Davis stated that he doesn’t think anything stronger than a suggestion can go 
there.  

Mr. Goff made the motion to approve the application as presented. 

Mr. Bates seconded. 

AYES: 4 NAYES: 0 ABSENT: 2 



 

12 
 

 



 

13 
 

 



 

14 
 

 



 

15 
 

 



 

16 
 

 



 

17 
 

 



 

18 
 

 



 

19 
 

 



 

20 
 

 



 

21 
 

 



 

22 
 

 



 

23 
 

 



 

24 
 

 



 

25 
 

 



 

26 
 

 



 

27 
 

 



 

28 
 

 



 

29 
 

 



 

30 
 

 



 

31 
 

 



 

32 
 

 



 

33 
 

 



 

34 
 

 



 

35 
 

 



 

36 
 

 



 

37 
 

 



 

38 
 

 



 

39 
 

 

 



 

40 
 

 



 

41 
 

 



 

42 
 

 



 

43 
 

 

 



 

44 
 

 



 

45 
 

 



 

46 
 

 



 

47 
 

 



 

48 
 

 



 

49 
 

 



 

50 
 

 

VMRC #23-1194 – Grant Ancarrow 

 



 

51 
 

 

NEW BUSINESS 

None 

OLD BUSINESS 

None 

ADJOURN 

Having no further business, Vice Chairman Davis entertained a motion to adjourn. AYES: 4 
NAYES: 0 ABSENT: 2 

 

 

 

________________________________________        

              Vice Chairman – Bunky Davis 


